1976

State of Utah In The Interest of Kenneth Eugene Marquez A Person Under Eighteen Years of Age : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE JUVENILE COURT ERR IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE FINGERPRINT RECORDS OF THE APPELLANT WITHOUT REQUIRING ANY FOUNDATION THAT SUCH PRINTS WERE TAKEN IN COMPLIANCE WITH UTAH STATUTORY PROVISIONS AND JUVENILE COURT RULES.
- II. DID THE JUVENILE COURT ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN DECLARING FINGERPRINT RECORDS OF THE APPELLANT ADMISSABLE UNDER THE BUSINESS RECORDS EXCEPTION TO THE HEARSAY RULE.

- III. EVEN AFTER DECLARING THE ADMISSABILITY OF FINGERPRINT EVIDENCE OF THE APPELLANT UNDER THE BUSINESS RECORDS EXCEPTION TO THE HEARSAY RULE, DID THE JUVENILE COURT ERR IN NOT REQUIRING SUFFICIENT FOUNDATION UNDER THE EXCEPTION ITSELF.
- IV. DID THE JUVENILE COURT ERR IN ADMITTING FINGERPRINT RECORDS OF THE APPELLANT WITHOUT REQUIRING SUFFICIENT FOUNDATION AS TO THE AUTHENTICITY OF THE RECORDS.
- V. DID THE JUVENILE COURT ERR IN NOT GRANTING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS BASED UPON INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN A CONVICTION.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an Order of the Second District Juvenile Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, dated April 12, 1976, committing Kenneth Eugene Marquez, a juvenile to the Utah State Industrial School. Commitment occurred subsequent to an adjudicatory hearing conducted March 18, 1976 at which appellant was found guilty of the offenses of burglary and theft.

The offenses charged were allegedly committed on November 2, 1975, at a single-family dwelling in the "Avenues" area

of Salt Lake City. According to the testimony of the investigating police officer and the owner of the home, access was gained by means of a forced entry through a back door to the house. The house was entered and several items of personal property were reported missing from the living area of the house. The only window to an unconnected cellar of the house was reported by the owner to have been found by him with the glass unbroken and in its permanent frame lying on the floor of the cellar. This finding was concurrent with discovery of the burglary and theft of the upstairs portion of the house. No property was discovered missing from the cellar, nor was entry to the upstairs portion of the house possible from inside the cellar.

Two days later, on November 4, a latent fingerprint was lifted from the cellar window by the Salt Lake City Police. (State's Exhibit 2). The police officer who lifted his print testified that the window had been replaced in the cellar wall, contrary to previous police instructions to owner of the home. No testimony was presented in explanation of when or by whom the cellar window was replaced. One investigating officer had previously testified that he advised the victim on November 2, the day of the burglary, not to move the window until the crime lab technician was able to process it.

At trial, the only evidence introduced by the State against the appellant was testimony by Officer Bill D. Simpson, a technician in the Identification Division of the Salt Lake City Police

Department. Officer Simpson testified that one latent fingerprint was taken by him on November 4, 1974 from the outside surface of the window to the cellar which, again, had no inside connection to the living portion of the home, that the latent print was then compared to a fingerprint card which reportedly had been in the possession of the Salt Lake City Police Department since 1973, and that the card purportedly identified the print as belonging to the appellant. (State's Exhibit 1) Mr. Simpson testified that the latent print from the window was comparable to one of the prints on file. (State's Exhibit 3) No further evidence of any kind was introduced by the State against the appellant.

Although timely objection by defense counsel was made as to the lack of foundation showing compliance with statutory provisions and juvenile court rules governing the fingerprinting of juveniles and as to the competency of the fingerprint evidence itself, such objections were overruled. Defense counsel also moved to dismiss the case based upon insufficient evidence to support a determination that the appellant was guilty of burglary or theft. Counsel's Motion was denied.

Appellant was found guilty of burglary and theft and subsequently committed to the Utah State Industrial School.

INTRODUCTORY DISCUSSION

Where a court is considering a delinquency charge pursuant to the special procedures established by the Juvenile Court

and Rules which pointedly state that such proceedings are not criminal in nature, there is grave danger of injustice in the elimination of the usual safeguards surrounding a criminal trial. 43 ALR 2d 1130. In this vein, Dean Wigmore in his Treatise on Evidence, Vol. 5.3d ed § 1400, has said:

The procedure devised for juvenile courts is apt and enlightened. Nevertheless, the promoters of that legislation in their enthusiasm for its benefits and their determination to eliminate the conditions of the usual criminal court, have gone to the borderline of prudence in their iconoclasm....

During the past decade the United States Supreme Court has determined in three cases the boundaries of constitutional rights afforded children who come within the jurisdiction of the juvenile court, and it is important that those be acknowledged here at the outset. Kent v. United States, 383 U S 541 (1966), In Re Gault, 387 U S 1 (1967), In Re Winship, 397 U S 583 (1970). Although these landmark cases are well known, the principles of those decisions are set forth herein because of the collective mandate they set forth for provision of due process protections in delinquency proceedings parallel to those involved in adult criminal proceedings.

In Kent v. U.S., supra, the transfer of jurisdiction from Juvenile Court to the adult court of a 16 year old boy was held illegal. The Court decried the long, procedurally irregular history of the case and reasoned that denial to a juvenile of procedural protections available to an adult could

not be justified by any of the special protections allegedly provided by the juvenile system under the doctrine of "parens patriae." The court relied heavily on the transfer statute of the District of Columbia but clearly spoke in broad instructional terms of the right of the juvenile to procedural protections.

In Re Gault, supra, expanded and clarified the general ruling of Kent, supra, and unequivocally held that within the Juvenile Court system the essentials of due process and fair treatment in delinquency proceedings require: (1) the giving of adequate and timely notice of the charges against the juvenile; (2) notice that the child is entitled to be represented by counsel; (3) that the privileges against self-incrimination afforded by the Fifth Amendment apply in juvenile proceedings, and (4) that a child involved in an adversary proceeding has the right to confront and cross examine witnesses as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. The Gault holding has been the foundation of juvenile delinquency proceedings since 1967.

The standard by which a juvenile may be deemed guilty of a delinquency charge was determined in In Re Winship, supra. The standard established there was "proof beyond a reasonable doubt", that required in adult criminal proceedings. Here the court refused to accept the argument that a juvenile proceeding which could result in punishment through confinement in an institution was not criminal and that due process protections were therefore unnecessary.

The court reasoned:

"Civil labels and good intentions do not themselves obviate the need for criminal due process safeguards in juvenile courts. 397 U S at 365.

With these specified constitutional guarantees identified, the extension of applicable rules of evidence to juveniles in adjudicatory settings as demanded by due process is clear. With the exception of the right to a jury trial enjoyed by adults, the juvenile delinquency adjudication must, to be consistent with the Supreme Court Opinions, be conducted just as an adult criminal trial.

As stated in People v. Fitzgerald, 244 N.Y. 307, 155 N.E. 584 (1927),

"A child who commits an act which would be burglary or larceny in an adult, may be tried in the children's court and convicted and sent away...The Act, however, must be proved; and it must be proved by some kind of evidence. There must be a trial; the charge against the child cannot be sustained upon mere hearsay or surmise; the child must first have committed the act of burglary or of larceny before it can be convicted of being a delinquent child. The act remains the same, and the proof of the act is equally necessary whether we call it burglary, larceny or delinquency. The name may change the result; it cannot change the facts.

Utah recognizes the applicability of evidentiary safeguards in juvenile proceedings. As set forth in Rule 2 of the Utah Rules of Evidence (effective July 1, 1971), the application

of the rules in judicial proceedings is defined as follows:

Except to the extent to which they may be relaxed by other procedural rule or statute applicable to the specific situation, these rules shall apply in every proceeding, both criminal and civil, conducted by or under the supervision of a court, in which evidence is produced.

The Utah Rules of Evidence are clearly those applicable to the case herein as there are no provisions in the Juvenile Court Act to limit or modify their application in delinquency adjudications.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE JUVENILE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE FINGERPRINT RECORDS OF THE ACCUSED WITHOUT PROPER FOUNDATION THAT SUCH FINGERPRINTS WERE TAKEN IN COMPLIANCE WITH UTAH STATUTORY PROVISIONS AND JUVENILE COURT RULES.

Two sets of fingerprints identified as belonging to the appellant were introduced at trial. The fingerprint card held by the Salt Lake City Police Department since 1973 was admitted over defense counsel's objection that there was insufficient foundation laid by the state to determine if the prints taken in 1973 were taken and held by the police in compliance with the Utah statute governing the taking of fingerprints of juveniles (Transcript, P.20). The record indicates that the fingerprints

card used as a comparison with a latent print found on an outside cellar window of the burglarized home provided the only basis for a determination of identification and guilt of the appellant.

Because no foundation was laid by the State to assure compliance with Section 55-10-116 and Rule 39, Utah Juvenile Court Rules of Practice and Procedure (hereafter U.J.C.R.P.P.), admission of State's Exhibit No. 1 was reversible error.

Section 55-10-116 U.C.A. (1953) governs the fingerprinting of juveniles. The statute provides:

...Without the consent of the (juvenile court) Judge, no fingerprints shall be taken of any child taken into custody unless the case is transferred for criminal proceedings.

No transfer for criminal proceedings was initiated against the appellant herein. Therefore, in accordance with Section 55-10-116, the fingerprints taken in 1973 are inadmissible without proper foundation that such prints were obtained legally as the result of obtaining judicial consent. If there is insufficient foundation to prove the legality of the taking of the appellant's prints, such prints must be presumed to have been illegally obtained and therefore are inadmissible as the fruits of an illegal act by the police.

There is no recognized Utah case law on this question. However, the United States Supreme Court has ruled on the admissibility of fingerprint evidence. In Davis v. Mississippi, 394 U S 721 (1969), the Supreme Court ruled that all evidence obtained

illegally, including fingerprints, is inadmissible in a state court. The opinion states:

Our decision recognizes no exception to the rule that illegally seized evidence is inadmissible at trial however relevant the seized evidence may be as an item of proof....To make an exception for illegally seized evidence which is trustworthy would fatally undermine [the sanction to redress and deter overreaching conduct prohibited by the Fourth Amendment].

The Utah Juvenile Court has promulgated administrative Rules relating to the means by which police agencies may obtain the consent of the juvenile court to take a juvenile's fingerprints. Rule 39 UJCRPP embodies Section 55-10-116 U.C.A. (1953) and was originally modified by general order No. 3, dated May 4, 1966, which specified those circumstances under which the consent of a juvenile court judge is implied. General order No. 3 states:

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED by the Judges of the Utah State Juvenile Court that duly appointed and acting law enforcement officers in the State of Utah may take the fingerprints of any person under the age of eighteen years, which such officer has lawfully taken into custody:

1. When such person has committed one of the following acts:
 - (a) Any offense which would be a felony if committed by an adult.
 - (b) Any offense that would be petit larceny if committed by an adult.
 - (c) Any offense of depriving a motor vehicle owner of possession.
 - (d) Any offense involving a sexual exhibition.
 - (e) Running away from home without the consent of parents or guardian.

2. In any other case when such person has been lawfully taken into custody upon sufficient evidence tending to connect said person with the commission of an offense that would be a crime if committed by an adult, and fingerprints are reasonably necessary for comparison with latent prints obtained at the crime scene to further establish that said person perpetrated the offense or that he is innocent of the offense.

During the trial of the appellant the court refused to make a determination as to whether general order no. 3 applied for foundation purposes to the fingerprints in question or whether Rule 39 as amended in March 1975 was applicable.

The 1975 amendment reads:

RULE 39. Fingerprinting Persons under Eighteen Years of Age.

A juvenile may not be fingerprinted without the express permission of a Judge of the Juvenile Court except that consent is hereby given in accordance with this rule in the following cases:

1. If the juvenile is 14 years or older and is taken into custody and referred to the Juvenile Court for allegedly committing a criminal act which would be a felony if committed by an adult. Said prints may be filed by law enforcement agencies. If the Court does not find that the child committed the alleged felony, the fingerprint card and all copies of the fingerprints shall be destroyed by the law enforcement agency, or upon request of the Juvenile Court, shall be delivered to the Juvenile Court for the purpose of destroying said prints.
2. If latent fingerprints are found during the investigation of a criminal offense and the law enforcement officer has reason to believe that they are those of the juvenile in custody, he may fingerprint the juvenile regardless of age or

offense for purposes of immediate comparison with the latent fingerprints. If the comparison is negative the fingerprint card and other copies of the fingerprints taken shall be immediately destroyed. If the comparison is positive and the juvenile is under 14 years of age and referred to the Court, the fingerprint card and other copies of the fingerprints shall be delivered to the Court for disposition. If the juvenile is not referred to Court, the prints shall be immediately destroyed by the law enforcement agency, or upon request of the Juvenile Court, delivered to the Juvenile Court for the purpose of destroying the prints.

3. If the Juvenile Court finds that a juvenile 14 or more years of age has committed a felony, the prints may be retained in the local police file and copies sent to the State Bureau of Criminal Identification, provided that said bureau and local police agency shall insure that no copies of said fingerprints shall be delivered or sent to any other agency or individual without the express permission of the Juvenile Court and shall maintain said prints in a separate juvenile file. However, law enforcement officers and staff of the bureau may have access to the fingerprints for comparison purposes.
4. Under no circumstance shall copies of the fingerprints be sent to the Federal Bureau of Identification without the express permission of the Juvenile Court.

In those instances where the juvenile in custody does not fall within the above exceptions and the law enforcement officer deems it advisable to have the juvenile fingerprinted, application for such consent shall be made by the officer or official who proposes to take the fingerprints with the reasons set forth.

The safeguards and procedures set out in these rules, whichever is applicable, are very clear and specific, as they should be. The Juvenile Court in promulgating these rules was pressing the limits of permissible delegation of legislatively mandated responsibilities by providing a mechanism that allows police officers to fingerprint juveniles without obtaining the specific consent of the Juvenile Court Judge. The dangers that this delegation may be abused if not closely scrutinized and jealously monitored by the Juvenile Court is obvious. The only means available is that requested by defense counsel here - a foundation laid by the State showing that the rules had been complied with in the taking and keeping of appellant's fingerprints.

The issue here is thus not which set of rules is applicable. Rather, the legality of the taking of the prints through foundation evidence must be shown under either rule, since the same purpose is effected by both. Further, Rule 21 U.J.C.R.P.P. (1974) requires that only evidence that is "competent...shall be admitted." To be admissible as competent evidence, the state must sustain the burden of showing, through adequate foundation, that the comparison prints were obtained in compliance with Section 55-10-116 and Rule 39 U.J.C.R.P.P.

It is clear from the trial transcript that absolutely no foundation showing compliance with the forgoing statute or

rules was laid by the State or required by the Juvenile Court. (Transcript beginning at Page 20). The Court thus admitted the comparative fingerprint card into evidence without assurance that the protections embodied within the statute and rules were afforded the appellant. The admission of the prints into evidence was reversible error and a denial of Due Process of Law as guaranteed by Article I, Sec. 7 of the Constitution of Utah.

II. THE JUVENILE COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF
LAW IN DECLARING FINGERPRINT RECORDS
ADMISSABLE UNDER THE BUSINESS RECORDS
EXCEPTION TO THE HEARSAY RULE.

The state was allowed, over counsel's objection, to admit the comparative fingerprints purportedly of appellant under the Business Records Exception to the Hearsay Rule. Rule 63(13) Utah Rules of Evidence. The substance of this rule and exception is:

Evidence of a statement which is made other than by a witness while testifying at the hearing offered to prove the truth of the matter stated is hearsay evidence and is inadmissible except:

(13) Writings offered as memoranda or records of acts, conditions or events to prove the facts stated therein, if the Judge finds that they were made in the regular course of a business at or about the time of the act, condition or event recorded, and that the sources of information from which made and the method and circumstances of their preparation were such as to indicate their trustworthiness.

It is appellant's contention that the admission of fingerprint records under the Business Records Exception was reversible error.

In the case of People v. Zerbes, 6 Cal. 2d 425, 57 P.2d 1319 (1936), the California Supreme Court ruled that where the state's fingerprint expert had not known the person fingerprinted personally and had not personally recorded the prints on the fingerprint card, his testimony was correctly excluded by the trial court as hearsay and the fingerprint card was properly rendered incompetent. The foundational requirements set forth by the court clearly exceed those requirements under the Business Records Exception, supra. Appellant respectfully submits that the Zerbes rule, applicable to the facts in this case, is sound judicial precedent which should be recognized and adopted by this court.

III. EVEN ASSUMING FINGERPRINT EVIDENCE
IS ADMISSIBLE UNDER THE BUSINESS
RECORDS EXCEPTION TO THE HEARSAY
RULE, THE JUVENILE COURT ERRED IN
ADMITTING FINGERPRINT RECORDS
BECAUSE OF INSUFFICIENT FOUNDATION
UNDER THAT EXCEPTION.

If it was not error to admit the fingerprint card into evidence as an exception to the Hearsay Rule, Rule 63(13) still requires that the presiding judge base the decision to admit on the "trustworthiness" of the evidence offered. This trust-

worthiness must be demonstrated to the court.

Fingerprint evidence is certainly no more trustworthy than other types of evidence such as weapons or narcotics. The fact that matter offered into evidence in support of the claim or defense of a party is logically relevant to the issues raised does not mean it is admissible. What may be relevant may be rendered incompetent and inadmissible as to the rules of evidence. 20 ALR 246.

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