1976

# State of Utah In The Interest of Kenneth Eugene Marquez A Person Under Eighteen Years of Age : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Utah Code Ann. § 55-10-116 (1953), provides that "Without consent of the [juvenile court] judge, no fingerprint

shall be taken of any child taken into custody. . . ."

Appellant asks this Court to adopt rules of law which would require the State to lay a foundation showing compliance with the above statute before fingerprint evidence may be admitted in evidence in a juvenile court proceeding. Appellant has asserted that such a rule is the only means available to enforce the statute, and that in the absence of a sufficient foundation, the evidence must be conclusively presumed to have been illegally obtained. Appellant's argument is premised on the notion that fingerprint evidence obtained in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 55-10-116 (1953), as amended, would be inadmissible in court proceedings. Respondent respectfully submits that the adoption of the above rule on such reasoning would be unwise, unnecessary and contrary to public policy.

Appellant has admitted that there is no recognized case law on this subject, but has quoted Davis v. Mississippi, 394 U.S. 721 (1969), in support of the proposition that fingerprint evidence obtained illegally is inadmissible in a state court. More precisely stated, the holding in that case is that a suspect may not be detained in violation of



the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and that fingerprint evidence obtained as a result of that illegal detention is "tainted" and inadmissible. The Court did not hold that the taking of fingerprints was a search or seizure subject to Fourth Amendment limitations, and specifically found "no occasion in this case . . . to determine whether the requirements of the Fourth Amendment could be met by narrowly circumscribed procedures for obtaining, during the course of a criminal investigation, the fingerprints of individuals for whom there is no probable cause to arrest." Davis at 728. It has been held that absent an illegal detention, there is no basis for objecting to the admission of fingerprint evidence. Redd v. Decker, 447 F.2d 1346 (5th Cir. 1971). Voluntary submission to fingerprinting has been held a waiver of any Fourth Amendment rights, People v. Hannaman, 507 P.2d 466 (Colo. 1973), and it has been held that fingerprints may be taken absent a warrant or arrest, State v. Dillon, 93 Idaho 698, 471 P.2d 553 (1970). Despite the slim authority available for the proposition that fingerprints are subject to Fourth Amendment protections, appellant contends that fingerprint evidence should not be admitted even if it is obtained by procedures

that comport with constitutional commands. Appellant is urging that Utah Code Ann. § 55-10-116 (1953), supplies an additional and independent ground for the exclusion of evidence. Such a rule would be analogous to the present "exclusionary rule" only in its draconian effect of denying to the courts relevant evidence. The rule would be based not on the requirements of constitutional construction, but rather on implication from the statute, and it is a hazardous guess at best that the legislature would have afforded juveniles the protection found in the statute at the cost of allowing juvenile offenders to escape punishment. Fashioning a rule as prayed for by appellant would constitute an unwarranted incursion into the legislative sphere.

Contrary to appellant's contention, an exclusionary rule is not the only, or even the best, means of enforcing Utah Code Ann. § 55-10-116 (1953). A juvenile who felt that his fingerprints had been unlawfully taken or filed should be able to bring an action to compel destruction of the record. Davidson v. Dill, 180 Colo. 123, 503 P.2d 157 (1972); Eddy v. Moore, 5 Wash.App. 334, 487 P.2d 211 (1971); and Menard v. Mitchell, 430 F.2d 486 (D.C. 1970). Such an action would be analogous to a proceeding to restore property improperly seized under a warrant. Utah Code Ann. §

77-54-18 (1953). This procedure would give a remedy to all juveniles wrongfully fingerprinted, not just to those returned to court under suspicion of misbehavior; but it would not forbid a court to receive relevant evidence. A process for destruction of records under court order would also have a greater deterrent effect on official misconduct than an exclusionary rule. Under an exclusionary rule, the police could keep an illegally obtained set of fingerprints for comparison purposes, obtain probable cause for an arrest from those fingerprints, and then take an admissible set of prints at the time of the arrest. It is precisely this type of circular procedure which led Justice Stewart to characterize the Davis decision as a "useless gesture." Davis at 730. The conviction in the Davis case was eventually affirmed, see Davis v. State, 255 So.2d 916 (Miss. 1971), cert. denied 409 U.S. 855 (1972). See also Bynum v. United States, 262 F.2d 465 (D.C. 1959), and 274 F.2d 767 (D.C. 1960). The harmful effects of a rule that excludes relevant evidence from a court proceeding has long been recognized. As Chief Justice Burger said:

"The history of the suppression doctrine demonstrates that it is both conceptually sterile and practically ineffective in accomplishing its stated objective. . . ."  
Bivens v. Six Unknown Fed. Narcotics Agents,  
403 U.S. 388, 415 (1970).

Accordingly, the Supreme Court has resisted efforts to expand the scope of the exclusionary rule. See Stone v. Powell, 44 U.S.L.W. 5313 (U.S. July 6, 1976), holding that where a state has provided a full and fair litigation of a Fourth Amendment claim, a convict is not entitled to federal habeas corpus relief on the grounds of an unconstitutional search; United States v. Jains, 44 U.S.L.W. 5303 (U.S. July 6, 1976), holding that the exclusionary rule does not apply to forbid the use in the civil proceedings of one sovereign the evidence seized by an agent of another sovereign. State court decisions have been consistent with this trend to limit the scope of the exclusionary rule, i.e., People v. Coleman, 120 Cal.Rptr. 384, 533 P.2d 1024 (1975), stating that the exclusionary rule is not applicable to parole revocation hearings.

In addition to expanding the substantive scope of the exclusionary rule, appellant has urged its adoption in an entirely one-sided procedural framework. Ordinarily, a criminal defendant cannot require a prosecutor to "lay a foundation" to show that all evidence that he intends to admit was legally obtained. Evidence obtained in violation of constitutional rights is kept out of court by means of a motion to suppress, and the defendant has the burden of

showing a prima facie case of unreasonable search and seizure to support his motion. United States v. Warrington, 17 F.R.D. 25 (N.D. Cal. 1955); People v. Manning, 33 Cal.App. 586, 109 Cal.Rptr. 531 (1973); and People v. Valdez, 173 Colo. 410, 480 P.2d 574 (1971). As this Court said in State v. Montayne, 18 Utah 2d 38, 414 P.2d 958 (1966), cert. denied 385 U.S. 939:

"Evidence is suppressed or excluded only if the same was obtained by a violation of the Fourth Amendment . . . Therefore it is entirely proper to require of one who seeks to challenge the legality of a search as a basis for suppressing relevant evidence that he alleges, and if the allegation be disputed, that he establish that he himself was a victim of an invasion of privacy."

In the present case, the appellant has not produced a scintilla of evidence that the fingerprint record was obtained in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 55-10-116 (1953)

There are, in fact, indications that the fingerprint record was obtained in an entirely legal fashion. The fingerprint card is dated as having been made on June 20, 1973. The rule governing the taking of fingerprints at the time was General Order No. 3, Rule 39, Utah Juvenile Court Rules of Practice and Procedure, which provided:

"IT IS HEREBY ORDERED by the Judges of the Utah State Juvenile Court that duly appointed and acting law enforcement officers in the State of Utah may take the fingerprints of any person under the age of eighteen years, which such officer has lawfully taken into custody:

1. When such person has committed one of the following acts:

(a) Any offense which would be a felony if committed by an adult.

(b) Any offense that would be petit larceny if committed by an adult.

(c) Any offense of depriving a motor vehicle owner of possession.

(d) Any offense involving a sexual exhibition.

(e) Running away from home without the consent of parents or guardian.

2. In any other case when such person has been lawfully taken into custody upon sufficient evidence tending to connect said person with the commission of an offense that would be a crime if committed by an adult, and fingerprints are reasonably necessary for comparison with latent prints obtained at the crime scene to further establish that said person perpetrated the offense or that he is innocent of the offense."

The fingerprint card indicates that it was taken incident to an arrest for "Auto Theft" and "Run A-way," and is clearly within the above rule. The later rule which requires the destruction of records of arrest not resulting in action by the court, U.J.C.R.P.P. Rule 39 (1975), was not in effect at the time the fingerprint record was made, and according

to accepted rules of construction, it should not be given a retroactive interpretation so as to require the destruction of records already filed. Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-3 (1953).

The fact that the record was in official custody and was not destroyed gives rise to the presumption that the officers were under no duty to destroy it. Contrary to appellant's contention, where the record is silent, officers are conclusively presumed to have performed their duty. Utah Liquor Control Comm'n v. District Court of the Seventh Judicial District, 100 Utah 135, 111 P.2d 144 (1941); People v. Collins, 172 Cal.App.2d 295, 342 P.2d 370 (1959); and Painter v. Peyton, 257 F.Supp. 913 (E.D. Virginia 1966).

As this Court has said, ". . . peace officers should not be unduly hampered in legitimate attempts to investigate crimes and to seek out and identify those who have committed them." State v. Perry, 27 Utah 2d 48, 492 P.2d 1349 (1972). Exclusion of fingerprint evidence in this case would clearly hamper police activity without providing a corresponding benefit. For the reasons stated above, respondent respectfully submits that the Juvenile Court committed no error in the admission of the fingerprint evidence.

POINT II

THE JUVENILE COURT DID NOT ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN ADMITTING FINGERPRINT EVIDENCE AS AN EXCEPTION TO THE HEARSAY RULE.

Appellant contends that fingerprint evidence is inadmissible hearsay unless authenticated by the officer who made the record, and has cited People v. Zirbes, 6 Cal. 2d 425, 57 P.2d 1319 (1936) as authority. However, it is no longer the law of California that fingerprint records are inadmissible as hearsay. People v. Crosslin, 251 Cal. App. 968, 60 Cal. Rptr. 309 (1967). That court held fingerprint cards admissible under the Uniform Business Records as Evidence Act. In almost every American jurisdiction, properly authenticated fingerprint records are admissible in evidence as an exception to the hearsay rule. Brown v. People, 124. Colo. 412, 238 P.2d 847 (1951); State v. Morris, 222 La. 480, 620 So. 2d 649 (1953); Brown v. State, 413 S.W. 2d 922 (Tex. Crim. 1967); State v. Gagallarritti, 377 S.W. 2d 298 (Mo. 1964); State v. O'Neal, 204 Kan. 226, 461 P.2d 801 (1969); Plunkett v. State, 437 P.2d 92 (Nev. 1968). This court has held police "rap sheets" admissible as exceptions to the hearsay rule.



Price v. Turner, 28 U.2d 328, 502 P.2d 121 (1972). The fingerprint card as offered in evidence satisfied the requirements of both the business records exception to the hearsay rule URE 63(13), and the reports of persons exclusively authorized exception URE 63(16). Statutory authorization for making fingerprints is found in Utah Code Annotated §§ 77-59-9, 77-59-29 (1953). Utah Code Annotated § 77-59-26 provides that:

"Any copy of a . . . fingerprint . . . in the files of the bureau (of criminal identification) certified by the director to be a true copy of the original, shall be admissible in evidence in any court of this state in the same manner as the original might be."

This necessarily implies that original fingerprint records are admissible without direct testimony by the officer who made them.

As Dean Wigmore has said:

"The purpose and reason of the hearsay rule is the key to the exceptions to it.

The theory of the hearsay rule is that the many possible sources of inaccuracy and untrustworthiness which may lie underneath the bare untested assertion of a witness can best be brought to light and exposed, if they exist, by the

test of cross-examination. But this test or security may in a given instance be superfluous; it may be sufficiently clear, in that instance, that the statement offered is free enough from the risk of inaccuracy and untrustworthiness, so that the test of cross-examination would be a work of supererogation." 5 Wigmore, Evidence § 1420 (Chadbourn rev. 1974).

In applying this test to fingerprint records, the following result is obtained:

"In evidencing the identity of a party to the case with some other person, how may fingerprint records kept elsewhere be evidenced? . . . the official record of such prints, kept under authority express or implied, is admissible," 2 Wigmore, Evidence § 414a (3d. Ed. 1940)

Respondent respectfully submits that the juvenile court's admission of the fingerprint record as an exception to the hearsay rule was based on sound and recognized principles of law, and as such constituted no error.

### POINT III

A SUFFICIENT FOUNDATION WAS LAID FOR THE ADMISSION OF THE FINGERPRINT RECORD AS AN EXCEPTION TO THE HEARSAY RULE.

Appellant has cited two Utah cases which demonstrate the proper rule as to the foundational requirement for the admission of evidence under the business records exception to the hearsay rule.

State v. Davie, 121 Utah 189, 240 P.2d 265 (1952) and Clayton v. Metropolitan Life Insurance Co., 96 Utah 331, 85 P.2d 819 (1938). Appellant has correctly isolated the elements of a proper foundation from these cases: the records must be made "in the usual course of business", they must be "generally authenticated", they must be introduced from proper custody, and there must be a showing of necessity for the introduction of the evidence without requiring the person who made the print to testify. Appellant has not indicated which of these foundational requirements he feels is unsatisfied. Officer Simpson testified that he was employed as a fingerprint technician for six years (T.15), that fingerprint cards are made during the regular course of "business" at the Salt Lake City Police Department (T.17), that these cards are filed under the "Henry System" at the Police Departments Identification Bureau, that he recognized the card introduced as Exhibit #1 as a card used at the Police Department, and that he obtained the card from the Fingerprint File (T.18,19). Such testimony is sufficient to satisfy the requirements that the record be made in the regular course of business, and that it be generally authenticated. In Norchcrest Inc. v. Walker Bank & Trust Co., 122 Utah 268, 248 P.2d

692 (1952), this court held that a bank officer

was competent to testify as to bank records and their contents, even though he was not associated with the bank until some years after the transaction in question had occurred. The fact that he was familiar with bank records made concurrent with the transaction was sufficient to qualify him as a witness. The witness testified that the fingerprint card was obtained from the files of the Salt Lake City Police Department. This is sufficient to establish proper custody, and a fingerprint technician is competent to testify as a custodian. Lester v. State, 416 P.2d 52, 58-59 (Okla. Crim. 1966). When a fingerprint record has been produced from official custody, a sufficient foundation has been laid for its admission. State v. Polson, 93 Idaho 912, 478 P.2d 292 cert. denied 402 U.S. 930 (1971).

The appropriate degree of necessity required to be shown in order to admit a record made under an express statutory duty is something less than absolute impossibility. The fact that public officers have more important duties than the verification of the records they have made is most often regarded as sufficient to satisfy the necessity requirement. 5 Wigmore, Evidence § 1631 (Chadbourn Rev. 1974).

In addition, although counsel for the appellant objected to the admission of the records on the grounds of an insufficient showing of compliance with statute, and on the ground that an insufficient chain of custody was established, no objection was made to the introduction of the evidence on the ground that an insufficient foundation had been laid for their admission under the business records exception. Appellant should not be heard to complain for the first time on appeal that an insufficient foundation was laid when no such objection was presented in the juvenile court. People v. Lopez, 60 Cal. 2d 223, 384 P.2d 16, 32 Cal. Rptr. 424 (1963) cert. denied 375 U.S. 994 (1964).

Respondents respectfully submit that the juvenile court committed no error in admitting the evidence on the foundation shown.

#### POINT IV

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